

STANDING COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

AUDITOR GENERAL'S RESPONSE TO THE RECOMMENDATIONS FOR COMMITTEE REPORT 14 — UNASSISTED FAILURE

**TRANSCRIPT OF EVIDENCE
TAKEN AT PERTH
WEDNESDAY, 20 JUNE 2012**

Members

**Hon Max Trenorden (Chairman)
Hon Jon Ford (Deputy Chairman)
Hon Ken Baston
Hon Jim Chown
Hon Ed Dermer**

Hearing commenced at 9.51 am

MURPHY, Mr COLIN

Auditor General for Western Australia, sworn and examined:

CLARKE, Mr GLEN

Deputy Auditor General, sworn and examined:

SHAFIZADEH, Mrs MICHELLE

Assistant Auditor General, Standards and Quality Division, Office of the Auditor General, sworn and examined:

The CHAIRMAN: On behalf of the committee, I welcome you to the meeting. Before we start, I need to go through the processes of the committee. I am informed that we do need to do the oath, but not for Mr Murphy. Glen and Michelle, we just require you to do an oath or an affirmation.

[Witnesses took the oath or affirmation.]

The CHAIRMAN: Normally, at this stage we would ask you if you have got anything you wish to say before we get into the questions.

Mr Murphy: Certainly, briefly, Chair, thank you; I have a couple of administrative points. Firstly, I would thank the committee for adjusting the time of the meeting to fit in as I am tabling a report in Parliament later this morning. Secondly, I made the committee aware that in the exchange of questions that has occurred before the meeting, it has caused me to seek some legal advice in terms of confidentiality and I have conveyed to the committee that the State Solicitor has advised me that matters that come to our attention in the course of our employment do need to be kept confidential and that that would restrict some of the matters that I am able to discuss in this forum. I have also put very, very firmly on the record my intention and desire to be as open with the committee as I possibly can, and I believe there are a significant range of matters that can be discussed without being impacted on by the confidentiality provisions.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. We will deal with those matters as we go, but as you are probably aware, that does cause some considerable tension between yourself and this committee, and we will need to talk about those things as we go through the process. If you do not mind, we will get into the questions. We are having this hearing today because the committee referred to the Auditor General's oversight of Western Power from 2006 to 2011 in report 14, "Unassisted Failure". After that, the Auditor General wrote to us saying that report 14 contained inaccuracies and misunderstandings, and that is really what we are here to clear up, because it is a responsibility of this committee to report truthfully and openly to our Council; and, if there is any question about that, we need to clear that up. We have decided to hold this public hearing so the committee has all the facts and to give the Auditor General, yourself, obviously, a chance to be heard in an open and transparent way in this, and we have already talked about that to some extent. Once we have all the facts, and once you have put your point of view, we will report the process to the Council.

Getting back to your opening statement, last Wednesday the committee forwarded a number of questions to you that we would be asking today. We wanted to make sure you had fair warning of what you could expect. So, you have got those questions?

Mr Murphy: I do, indeed; yes.

The CHAIRMAN: You provided some written information in response to those questions to committee staff yesterday, and we have had an opportunity to look at those questions, so that is correct, obviously. In your letter of yesterday, did you advise the committee that, under section 30 of your act, you sought legal advice from the State Solicitor's Office about the committee's questions?

Mr Murphy: I do not believe I referred to section 30 of the act. I would have to check to see if that is the case.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps you should just have a look and tell us what you think you have done. Our understanding is that—when you look at your own answers—you referred to the State Solicitor's advice and we assumed that the core of that advice is actually going to be section 30.

Mr Murphy: I did seek the State Solicitor's advice, as I regularly do. I do not know that section 30 has a particular bearing on this matter.

The CHAIRMAN: Given that the questions put to you last Wednesday had the potential to touch on a matter of controversy between the Legislative Council and the Auditor General, did you consider seeking advice from someone other than the government's principal legal adviser?

Mr Murphy: No, I did not.

The CHAIRMAN: Is there a chance that doing this could affect the way that ordinary people might view the independence of your office?

Mr Murphy: I cannot see how that would be the case, Chair.

The CHAIRMAN: You have gone to the executive for a point of view.

Mr Murphy: The State Solicitor is who I went to for an interpretation on the operation of an act. I routinely do that.

The CHAIRMAN: Please provide the committee with a copy of the legal advice.

Mr Murphy: I have been advised that there would be some difficulty in doing that. I have spoken to a solicitor who provided that particular advice. They made the offer in their advice to provide any advice or assistance to the committee that might be needed—indeed, the telephone contact for that particular solicitor was passed to your research officer—and we offered the opportunity for a further conversation, which I expect would have taken place, but I have no knowledge of it.

The CHAIRMAN: We will have time to talk about these matters a little later on in the morning.

Hon ED DERMER: Sorry, Mr Chairman; we are still in the situation where we are asking for that legal advice.

The CHAIRMAN: We will be in that position.

Hon ED DERMER: Just in case there is any lack of clarity on that, we are asking for that legal advice.

The CHAIRMAN: We will move on, though, because we will be talking about that in some detail a little later. Does the State Solicitor's Office advice to you suggest that section 46 of your act prevents you or restricts you from answering the committee's questions in any way?

Mr Murphy: Yes, it does.

The CHAIRMAN: Why is that?

Mr Murphy: I can refer to the advice or I can tell you my understanding from communicating with the State Solicitor's Office.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we are better served by your own opinion.

Mr Murphy: My understanding of the advice is that —

Hon ED DERMER: Personally, Mr Chairman, I would be interested to hear both.

Mr Murphy: We can certainly do both. My discussion with the solicitor was along the lines that the legislation provides a specific avenue for me to communicate confidential matters to the Parliament, and that specific avenue is, in the upper house, through the estimates and financial operations committee and, in the lower house, through the Public Accounts Committee; and there is no restriction whatsoever in my communication with those committees. I am able to provide them with any information that comes to my attention or my knowledge in my duties and to answer all of their questions very fully and very frankly. The restriction that has been imposed really relates to the fact that the legislation, as I understand it, envisages that that will be the route for communicating that sort of information to the Parliament, and that since that route exists, that is the route that ought to be taken to discuss and reveal those sorts of pieces of information.

[10.00 am]

The CHAIRMAN: So do you want to talk about the actual advice?

Mr Murphy: On the actual advice, in my letter I did say to you I had been advised that I should be very careful in my responses. Really, the response referred to section 46 of the act, which says —

... A person to whom this subsection applies —

Which includes the Auditor General —

must preserve confidentiality with respect to all matters that come to the person's knowledge in the course of employment or duties under this Act ...

The legal advice also suggested that I communicate that advice to the committee, which I have done both in writing and through the telephone advice.

The CHAIRMAN: We will talk to those matters in some detail a bit later on. Having accepted the State Solicitor's Office advice as your own view, is that your own view?

Mr Murphy: Invariably, I accept the State Solicitor's advice on all matters of state legislation.

The CHAIRMAN: Does the State Solicitor's Office advice talk about your discretion to provide information under section 23?

Mr Murphy: No; I do not believe it mentions that.

The CHAIRMAN: Does the State Solicitor's Office advice say that section 23(2) of your act gives you the freedom to answer any of the committee's questions? Just have a look at that section. It is on the wall if you want to have a look at it.

Mr Murphy: No, the advice did not address that section.

Mr Clarke: Chair, if I may, I note that subsection (2) refers to the Auditor General referring to the Auditor General's responsibilities. It does not make reference to referring to confidential information, and that is the difference that the State Solicitor is drawing to our attention.

The CHAIRMAN: We will talk about that a little later. As you are aware, some of our later questions talk about that in some detail. If section 23(2) does apply, do you have a discretion to answer our questions and why would you decide to not answer questions? Do you have that discretion?

Mr Murphy: I am particularly keen to answer as many questions as the committee asks in as great a detail as I am lawfully permitted to do. I am very, very keen to put that very firmly on the record. It is my intention to provide as much information in as much detail as I am allowed to under the law.

The CHAIRMAN: Is it in the state's interests for a parliamentary committee to be given incomplete answers to its questions?

Mr Murphy: I do not believe it is. The advice that I got from the State Solicitor, as I have outlined, makes it very, very clear that I am able to provide information to the Parliament. It just suggests a particular route.

Hon JIM CHOWN: What route would that be?

Mr Murphy: Through the Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations in the upper house or through the Public Accounts Committee in the lower house or the joint standing committee on audit. Sorry, I should have added that; there are three committees.

The CHAIRMAN: We will talk about that a little later.

Mr Murphy: I would be pleased to.

The CHAIRMAN: Is there no risk to your independence in not answering a parliamentary committee's questions based solely on advice from the government's principal legal adviser?

Mr Murphy: I did not see any reason to seek alternative advice. If I have any reason to doubt or to feel there is a conflict with the State Solicitor's advice, I do have the capacity to seek alternative advice.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you going to do that? After all, you have sought advice from the government's legal adviser.

Mr Murphy: It is not clear to me that there is an issue that needs to be pursued.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we would argue to the contrary. We will move on. Are you prepared to use your discretion under section 23(2) of the act to answer the committee's questions in full?

Mr Murphy: I think I have already answered that in saying that I am very keen to provide as much information in as much detail as I am lawfully permitted to do.

The CHAIRMAN: Does the State Solicitor's Office advice make any distinction between questions and information provided in the context of a parliamentary inquiry on one hand and how you handle that information under usual operations as Auditor General under your act of 2006 and the Financial Management Act 2006? Does it make any distinction between those two points?

Mr Murphy: I do not believe it does. The advice was provided in the context of this hearing.

The CHAIRMAN: Does the State Solicitor's Office advice say that the Auditor General Act 2006 overrides the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891?

Mr Murphy: I do not believe it addresses that point.

The CHAIRMAN: It is pretty much a core issue. It does not address it?

Hon ED DERMER: Sorry, Mr Chairman, I saw Mr Murphy nod but I did not hear him vocalise the answer. I do not know how to interpret that.

Mr Murphy: What was the question? Could you repeat the question for me?

The CHAIRMAN: Does the State Solicitor's advice say that the Auditor General Act 2006 overrides the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891?

Mr Murphy: No, I do not believe it does.

The CHAIRMAN: Auditor General, I think we have some questions we would like to put to you without the public being involved. I would ask those people not involved in the inquiry to exit the room. We will only be a few minutes.

[The committee took evidence in private session]

Proceedings suspended from 10.19 to 10.35 am

The CHAIRMAN: Unfortunately this has taken a little time out of today's proceedings, so we will try to roll along as best we can.

Mr Murphy: I understand it is a very important matter, Chair.

The CHAIRMAN: We know you have commitments and we have commitments as well, but this is actually quite a serious day in the life of the Parliament, so we do need to tread carefully. The committee has asked me to remind you that you have a right to table anything you like in private to this committee, if you wish to do that. If that is the case, of course, you need to be aware that the Council can make public whatever it wants to make public. But this committee has the right to receive anything at all in private, which we could do. So that is an option to you and again, I need to ask whether you are prepared to table the State Solicitor's advice.

Mr Murphy: Thank you for that advice, Chair. We sought legal advice last week. The minute that legal advice was received, we passed that information on to this committee. I followed that up in writing with written confirmation that I passed to the committee yesterday. I have been quite keen to have the committee fully aware of the legal advice and the restrictions that it places on me in advance of this meeting, so that if there was any concern or any issue that needed to be discussed, I could look at it out of session. At this point, I am obviously not able to get further legal advice as I sit here. I am more than happy to do that out of session. I take your point; I understand the gravity of the matter.

The CHAIRMAN: We are going round and round in circles. Really, I just need to ask you: are you prepared to table the advice? You need to say yes or no.

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay; so we know where we stand.

Hon ED DERMER: At this point I would like to make it very clear, Mr Murphy, that we are willing to receive from you any information and any advice that you might like to give to us in addition to that which we are explicitly asking for. Is that clear?

Mr Murphy: I do understand that, and I believe I have made it clear that I am very keen to provide the committee and the Parliament with any information that it is seeking.

Hon ED DERMER: Having heard you say that, I want to make it similarly explicit that we are willing to receive anything that you choose to provide to us, in addition to that which we are specifically asking you for.

The CHAIRMAN: I am keen to move on, Auditor. These points are pretty important, and I think these words that we have been speaking the last half an hour or so will bounce around for a fair while yet, but I am keen to move on because we have a task to do today, so let us just move on with that task. The next question is: this committee's terms of reference were given to the committee by express resolution of the Legislative Council of Western Australia. The Legislative Council and the people of Western Australia are entitled to answers to the questions that this committee decides to ask. This committee is firmly of the view that the Auditor General Act 2006 does not override the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891. Really, that is what this discussion has been about. Further, as these proceedings are proceedings in Parliament, they are protected by Article 9 of the Bill of Rights 1689. The privilege of Parliament to scrutinise all public sector agencies is essential, if the people of Western Australia are to have confidence in how they are being governed. It is a fundamental aspect of our modern democracy. That is why today is such an important day. We have noted that other societies are often not so fortunate. We are keen to protect those matters that we deem to be important.

In forming its view, the committee notes that, in the second reading speech on the Auditor General Bill 2006, the then Treasurer, Hon Eric Ripper, MLA, made it clear that the independence of the Auditor General under the bill was important to strengthen the accountability of the Auditor General to the Parliament. There is no need to comment on these; we will just keep running through the information. This was an important aspect of relevant passages in the "Royal Commission on Commercial Activities of Government", which made it clear that the Auditor General should be

accountable to the Parliament. It was also central to the reforms urged by the Commission on Government. In fact, the link between the extensive powers of the Auditor General and the need for the office to be fully accountable to the Parliament was made crystal clear in its report. For this reason, this committee believes that it is not only advisable for it to be able to properly review the actions of the Auditor General in relation to Western Power; it is absolutely necessary, if the Parliament and people of Western Australia are to be assured that the office of Auditor General in this state is being properly discharged. Interestingly, this is exactly the same principle that the Auditor General has himself expressed, in the context of agency reporting on KPIs in April this year. That is on the screen. The extract on the screen, from the Auditor General's own "Beyond Compliance" report to the Parliament makes this point very well. Are we on the right slide? The committee will therefore proceed to ask its questions to the Auditor General, and at the end of the process we will report to Parliament.

Mr Murphy: If I may respond simply to the accountability of the Auditor General, I did allude to it in my letter to the committee, and it is a crucial matter. Our office was very, very supportive of specific provisions that were included in the Auditor General Act 2006, that did not exist in the previous legislation, that allowed for a full review of the performance of the Auditor General and the office of the Auditor General. The legislation requires that such a review be conducted at five-yearly intervals. The legislation unfortunately requires that that be conducted by the joint standing committee on audit, which the Parliament has yet to form. I have been so concerned about the lack of a review and the lack of formation of the committee that I have met with both the Public Accounts Committee and the estimates and financial operations committee and put on record my concern about the need for the office to have an independent external review reporting to the Parliament, because I consider it to be a critical aspect of accountability. I have also formally written to both Chairs of those committees, so I am strongly in support of openness and accountability with regard to my own office, and I have carried out a significant amount of work in terms of preparing for such a review, and I have done everything that I can to try to make sure such a review does take place. I am very interested in the openness and accountability of my office and accountability, specifically, to the Parliament, as is envisaged in the legislation.

[10.45 am]

Hon JIM CHOWN: Apart from this particular committee, obviously.

Mr Murphy: On legal matters, I will act on legal advice.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us move on, members. Mr Murphy, in your opinion, who is your client?

Mr Murphy: The Parliament; there is absolutely no doubt about that.

The CHAIRMAN: What sort of relationship does the Auditor General have with the Parliament? What do you think your relationship is?

Mr Murphy: It is a very broad and a very strong relationship. I meet with parliamentary committees on a regular basis both to provide information to them and to receive information from them. I am an officer of the Parliament and the existence of our office is with a view to providing information to the Parliament on the performance and the operations of public sector agencies. It is a very broad relationship, so I am not sure to what extent you want me to go on.

The CHAIRMAN: The questions will make it clear, but we are still talking about what we are concerned about. Is this the relationship? I guess what we are saying is: is this a relationship of mutual trust and reliance?

Mr Murphy: I would certainly hope and expect so and that has been my experience in the past, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Section 7(5) of the Auditor General Act, which is now on the screen, says that you have the statutory independence to do your job as you see fit. How does that independence fit with parliamentary accountability, in your view?

Mr Murphy: The legislation goes on further to also say that I have to have regard to the priorities of Parliament, so read alone, that does not fully encompass the extent of independence. That section read by itself would suggest that I can act without regard to Parliament. Other sections of the legislation make it very, very clear that that is not the case.

The CHAIRMAN: When you think about conducting a performance audit on an agency, how does that process work? Do you go to the agency and ask them what area to investigate or do you make your own view on that? What are the steps that you take, and do you involve the agency in that process?

Mr Murphy: Look, it is a very extensive process and a very comprehensive one. There is an outline and a summary of that process contained in our audit practice statement, which is on our website, to try and assist the Parliament and the users to understand what that process is. Certainly, the independence requires me not to consider the aims and wishes and objectives of our individual agencies. Nevertheless, discussions with those agencies and the work that we do in our financial audit will inform us about what is going on with that agency and will be a factor that is taken into consideration in determining whether a performance audit should proceed.

The CHAIRMAN: So who pays for the cost of performance audits? Is it the Office of the Auditor General or is it the agency?

Mr Murphy: It is the taxpayer. It is paid through a parliamentary appropriation, and that is appropriate. The government agencies do pay for their financial audits. That is a predictable amount; it is known and it happens on an annual basis, so there is some logic to the agency paying for that service. It also sets up a relationship between us and the client whereby there is an incentive on both parties to reduce the amount of effort to be as efficient as we can in that process. Performance audits are completely different in that they are not predictable; the government agency does not know when they are to occur. They cannot reasonably budget for them. They are factored into our parliamentary appropriation.

The CHAIRMAN: In all of that process the client is the agency or government?

Mr Murphy: I am sorry, Chair, the client is not involved in the funding.

The CHAIRMAN: But in your view as you go about your work, who do you perceive the client to be?

Mr Murphy: The Parliament.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. If you could not do an important performance audit because of a lack of resources, what are your options?

Mr Murphy: I have an obligation to make the Parliament aware of that. There are specific provisions in the Auditor General Act which provide for the Parliament to have a role in the setting of my budget. Look, I am aware there does need to be a balance between constraints imposed on my office to ensure that it is not overfunded, but also I need to receive sufficient funds to be able to do my job adequately. That has been the matter of some discussion with parliamentary committees and, certainly, with Treasury and with the Treasurer. Over the years, there has been a number of discussions where I have put my view firmly on the record about the extent of resources needed, where additional resources are needed and the impact of constraints on my resources.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, I have been a part of those debates myself. Let us get down to what we really are here today for—we have got a couple of alternative views. Do you agree that Western Power's wood pole distribution network is one of its two major assets?

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us look at EnergySafety's 2006 audit, which should be on the slide at the moment. You will be handed a copy of exhibit P, which is what is on the board. This is an extract from EnergySafety's 2006 audit of Western Power. Have you got that?

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Did you know that EnergySafety's 2006 audit found big problems in the areas that are shown on the screen?

Mr Murphy: Yes. Maybe I will save the committee some time by talking about our knowledge about Western Power and the reports in general terms.

The CHAIRMAN: I think for saving time, we would prefer to go through the questions, because I —

Mr Murphy: Perhaps if I could simply say that we have a relationship with Western Power as their auditor, which means we do have knowledge of major issues impacting the agency. We also have knowledge of any reports that are publicly available.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, okay. In the financial year 2006–07, did you go to Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if any of these problems affected Western Power's accounting or auditing treatments?

Mr Murphy: I believe there are restrictions on me talking specifically about our role in auditing Western Power, but I am more than happy to tell you that it is our general audit practice to have discussions with key clients and with their key regulators. That is very much part of our normal audit practice.

The CHAIRMAN: So it is reasonable of us to expect that you did go to Western Power.

Mr Murphy: I think that is a very reasonable thing for you —

The CHAIRMAN: And EnergySafety?

Mr Murphy: Absolutely.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. Can you demonstrate any evidence that you actually did that?

Mr Murphy: I am not understanding why it would be necessary to demonstrate that, but I do not have any documents that specifically —

The CHAIRMAN: Would there be documents?

Hon JIM CHOWN: These discussions are obviously pre-audit, before, or are they during the audit process?

Mr Murphy: We audit Western Power on a continuous basis. We audit them every year, so at any point in time we are involved with discussions with the client, so be it pre or post a particular signing of a particular audit opinion.

Hon JIM CHOWN: And they are minuted.

Mr Murphy: Absolutely, yes. We attend the audit and risk committees of major clients as an observer, so we are not a party to the decisions that they make and we have to keep our independence and we have to make that known. But our attendance and the matters that are discussed at audit and risk committees are routinely minuted. They would be minuted by the client.

The CHAIRMAN: The point of asking the question is we need to try to establish in our own mind a bit how the office goes about its process. So we have just asked you: is it reasonable to expect that you did go to Western Power and you did go to EnergySafety? Our interest is: How do you process that? How do you go about that process? Is there any evidence—is there a document trail—of how you go through that process?

Mr Murphy: There would be documents on how an auditor goes about understanding its client in talking to the client and talking to key regulators. In terms of our processing of all of the information that comes into our knowledge about agencies and the public sector —

The CHAIRMAN: That is not our concern. What we are trying to establish is how you go about your work, not what you find in that work. Are you prepared to table the documents that assist us to understand how you go about your processes?

Mr Murphy: Those documents—I do not believe there are documents that would assist the committee in that regard.

The CHAIRMAN: We have already talked about audit working papers —

Mr Murphy: Minutes of the audit and risk committee of Western Power would be available to the committee through Western Power.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. In the financial year 2006–07, did you go to either Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if any of these problems affected Western Power’s internal audit or internal control systems? Again, what we are trying to find out here is not what you found, but what process you go through to establish that.

Mr Murphy: Look, I would be very pleased to ask my assistant Auditor General to talk about the process that we go through —

The CHAIRMAN: What we want is a documented trail so we can follow it, not a description.

Mr Murphy: The documents that we follow are these documents—this is the auditing standards. That is the process that we follow and it will explain to the committee what we are required to do and what we do.

[10.55 am]

The CHAIRMAN: We have a misunderstanding about what we are trying to do. We are trying to find out what you actually did in this particular case. We would like to establish, for our own view, how you dealt with Western Power. So, we are looking for documents that indicated that you actually did give consideration to these matters, and the documents we think might be around are audit working papers or your own corporate executive minutes.

Mr Murphy: Chair, I have made the point in my earlier appearance before this committee and in all the communication, that I think there is a real need for a distinction between our role in financial audit and the work we do in performance audit. I think there is some confusion apparent with the information that is in the public domain about the two, and I think it is absolutely essential to get to the core of this situation to have absolute clarity about whether we are talking about financial audit or performance audit. They are very different in nature. I am raising that point because all the information about what we do in relation to a financial audit is in accordance with the auditing standards. There is a lot of information about what we are required to do, and if the committee is interested in that aspect, then we can go into some detail about the processes that are involved, about what we are looking for, and about how we incorporate that sort of information into our financial audit. There is a separate issue in relation to how the Office of the Auditor General takes information that it receives through the financial audit and then applies that to a performance audit; that is a separate discussion. I would like to have some clarity around which one we are talking about, in order to help the committee.

The CHAIRMAN: We are talking about both the financial audit and performance audit. But we seem to be at a loss; what we are trying to do is establish what the Office of the Auditor General did in this particular case. We are not concerned about what your standard performance process is; what we are trying to determine is what did you actually do when you got the information about Western Power. If you put yourself in our shoes, we are required to report back to the Parliament about what we put in the fourteenth report, which you have criticised. We need to establish whether your

criticism is valid or not. We have an absolute requirement from the President of the Council that if we have any doubt at all about our evidence, we need to report to him. We are in a position where we need to understand what you did in this particular case. This is not about how you operate in general. Are we clear where we are at?

Mr Murphy: Yes, we are. Look, I think in terms of what we are trying to identify in looking at the reports of EnergySafety or any other regulator, is whether it is going to have a material impact in the financial audit on the fair presentation of the financial statements. What we are required to do is governed by the auditing standards. Given that I have signed an opinion that says that the presentation of those financial statements was true and fair, and then I believe it is open for me to tell the committee that we have followed those procedures; we have followed all those procedures in relation to Western Power. So that means I am in a position to tell you what we considered with respect to Western Power, and it would be in accordance with the auditing standards.

The CHAIRMAN: So, are you prepared to table the audit working papers and the corporate executive minutes?

Mr Murphy: I do not believe that would provide the information the committee is looking for, but I have legal advice that suggests that I should not do that because I may be in breach of the Auditor General Act if I do that.

The CHAIRMAN: In that case, you need to say “no” or “yes” to the question.

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the financial year 2006-07, did you go to either Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if any of these problems affected Western Power’s internal audit or internal control systems? We are talking about exactly the same issue—not the same issue, but the same process. We are going to ask you for the same information.

Mr Murphy: The answer is the same.

The CHAIRMAN: So the answer is no?

Mr Murphy: No, the answer was not no; the answer is that we routinely engage with the key regulators of our clients to see if there are any issues that will have an impact on the financial audit of that entity. So, yes, we did engage with key regulators of Western Power. We do that as a routine matter of our financial audit to see if there are any matters that will have an impact on the financial audit. We have done that in every year that we audited Western Power.

The CHAIRMAN: And we have a concern about Western Power. The question remains the same: will you table the audit working papers and the corporate executive minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the financial year 2006-07, did you go to Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if any of these problems meant that Western Power was not complying with its statutory obligations?

Mr Murphy: We do routinely do that as a matter of course. Statutory obligations are examined to see whether they will have a material impact on the fair presentation of the financial statements, so we do that routinely as a matter of course; and, yes, we would have in this case.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you prepared to table the evidence that you actually did go through that process?

Mr Murphy: I do not believe I can.

The CHAIRMAN: In the financial year 2006-07, did you think about doing a performance audit of Western Power?

Mr Murphy: I mean, we consider a range of information all the time. The first time we formally considered doing a performance audit of Western Power was in 2009. I have previously advised the committee of that in writing.

The CHAIRMAN: In the financial year 2006-07, did you ask if EnergySafety's concerns about Western Power's wooden pole asset management was serious enough to affect that year's annual report—2006-07?

Mr Murphy: Look, I have been to great lengths, in correspondence and answering questions, to point out that a financial audit does not audit the annual report of an agency. We do not report on a routine basis, certainly in a financial audit, on the annual reports of government agencies. We have conducted specific performance audits; in fact one of our performance audits was specifically targeted at openness and compliance in annual reporting. A performance audit could and would look at the annual report; a financial audit does not audit the annual report.

The CHAIRMAN: That is the end of that section. We will move on to look the ERA's 2009 Electricity Industry Act 2004 section 32 notice, which is on the screen. You will be handed a copy of exhibit A1. This is an extract of the ERA's 2009 section 32 electricity act 2004 notice served on Western Power. Did you know that in January 2009 the ERA gave Western Power a compliance failure notice about its wooden pole network areas? A part of this notice is shown on the screen.

Mr Murphy: Was that a public document, Chair? In that case, yes, we were aware of it.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2008-09 financial year did you go to Western Power or the ERA to find out whether this affected Western Power's accounting or auditing treatments?

Mr Murphy: We certainly would have considered the impact of this matter on the financial audit and the fair presentation of their financial statements.

The CHAIRMAN: What about the evidence—auditing papers and so forth—are you prepared to table those?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2008-09 financial year did you go to Western Power or the ERA to find out if these problems affected Western Power's internal audit or internal control systems?

Mr Murphy: We would have had conversations with the key regulators of our client.

The CHAIRMAN: The same question: are you prepared to table the working papers and minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the financial year 2008–09, did you go to Western Power or the ERA to find out if these problems meant that Western Power was not complying with its statutory obligations?

Mr Murphy: We would have considered statutory obligations and any impact they would have had on the fair presentation of the financial statements.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table the same documents we talked about?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: That is the end of another section. Any questions?

Hon ED DERMER: Not at this stage.

[11.05 am]

The CHAIRMAN: We will move on.

Let us look at EnergySafety's 2008 audit, dated May 2009. The document is exhibit M1. This is an extract of EnergySafety's 2008 audit of Western Power. Have you had time to make yourself familiar with that?

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Did you know that EnergySafety's 2008 audit found that there were still problems in the areas shown on the screen. There is a long list of problems.

Mr Murphy: Yes, we were aware of that.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2008–09 financial year did you go to Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if these problems affected Western Power's accounting or auditing treatments?

Mr Murphy: We certainly would have considered the impact of this on our financial audit, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: The same question from us: are you prepared to table the audit working papers or documents?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we need to make sure that was a no. In the 2008–09 financial year did you go to Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if these problems were affecting Western Power's internal audit or internal control systems?

Mr Murphy: We would have had a discussion with the client and its regulators about the impact of these matters on the financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: I ask the standard question again: are you prepared to table working papers, minutes and the like?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2008–09 financial year did you go to Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if these problems meant that Western Power was not complying with its statutory obligations?

Mr Murphy: We would have.

The CHAIRMAN: I ask the same question again: are you prepared to table legal opinions, audit papers, minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2008–09 financial year, did you think about doing a performance audit of Western Power?

Mr Murphy: Yes, we did.

The CHAIRMAN: Is there evidence there that you are prepared to table?

Mr Murphy: No. I have written to the committee though, and put it on record. I have advised the committee in writing that we did consider conducting a performance audit. It first entered our topic selection list in 2009.

The CHAIRMAN: In the financial year 2008–09 did you find out whether EnergySafety's or the ERA's concerns about Western Power's network asset management were serious enough to affect that year's annual report?

Mr Murphy: We do not audit the annual report. We certainly consider whether those matters were serious enough to impact the financial audit and a fair presentation of their financial statements.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table audit working papers, minutes and the like?

Mr Murphy: No.

Hon JIM CHOWN: Mr Murphy, in regard to your proposed performance audit of Western Power in 2009, what triggered that process to have such an audit?

Mr Murphy: The concerns that have been alluded to in all of the previous questions.

Hon JIM CHOWN: Why did you not proceed with the performance audit?

Mr Murphy: I think that is an impossible question to answer comprehensively but I would certainly be prepared to go through some of the key considerations.

Hon JIM CHOWN: Please do.

Mr Murphy: Firstly, it is an unusual thing for an Auditor General to do a full performance audit into the core activities of a corporatised entity.

Hon JIM CHOWN: You answered my initial question by saying you had concerns regarding Western Power processes and that is why you were not going to initiate it.

Mr Murphy: Correct. It is very unusual for a public sector auditor to conduct a performance audit into the core business of a corporatised entity.

Hon JIM CHOWN: Unless it has great concerns.

Mr Murphy: Absolutely. I do not think you will find any history anywhere in Australia of any Auditor General doing a performance audit into an energy utility. But if the concerns get to the point where there is a public interest, then we would certainly proceed.

Hon JIM CHOWN: So you had come to that opinion?

Mr Murphy: There were a number of considerations.

Hon JIM CHOWN: That would have been the prime -

Mr Murphy: That was a key concern that we had, absolutely. Corporatised entities are set up quite separately from government departments, at arm's length from government. The audit that we perform of them is very different to that which applies to government departments in that it is a financial audit exclusively. Members will be aware that the audit of a department like health, education or police is much more comprehensive in that I give a three-way opinion, I give a particular opinion on controls and I also give an opinion on performance indicators. The level of depth provided for in the legislation for an audit of a corporatised entity is much lower. I think there is a recognition in the legislation that corporatised entities are subject to commercial pressures and also subject to other regulators, so they are different in natures and I guess that is a point. The second point is the extent of information that is already in the public domain. We monitor issues quite closely to see if there is a need for us to assist in transparency of issues. If we believe that it is already known, people are already acting on it and Parliament's already well aware of it, then it is not an area that we put significant resources into because there is a limited capacity for us to add value.

Hon JIM CHOWN: Can I just take you back to the commencement of my questions. As the Auditor General, you obviously had great concerns regarding the operations of Western Power. You had contemplated doing a performance audit on all aspects of that, and that is what a performance audit is about. You have just stated now that you stepped back from doing a performance audit because you believed that these considerations and problems within Western Power were in the public domain.

Mr Murphy: No; I am saying to you there are a large number of reasons, and I was going through them. That is one of the considerations. Another consideration is the extent of action by other regulators. There are other regulators in this domain, as you have pointed out, and those regulators have certainly done their job in terms of holding the agency to account and making publicly known the issues and concerns and the things that need to be addressed. In a normal circumstance, where an agency is operating in a regulated environment, the regulator expresses concern and the agency addresses the problem and it goes away. There would be limited value for me to add as an Auditor General. The extent of other regulators in the area—their reporting and their action—is a further thing that would be taken into consideration. If I get to a final point, it would simply be a matter of

our resourcing and audit programming and scheduling to see when we could fit such an audit in. All those factors would have been taken into account in 2009. They were factors that were considered. It was not until 2010 that those issues were dismissed and the concern about Western Power rose above those to the point where we commenced planning a performance audit into Western Power.

The CHAIRMAN: Can we move on, members, because we are going to run out of time.

Let us look at EnergySafety's 2009 section 18B Energy Coordination Act 1994, inspector's audit. This is exhibit U. You have been handed a copy of that so you can have a look at. This is an extract of EnergySafety's 2009 section 18B inspector's audit served on Western Power. Did you know that EnergySafety's 2009 section 18B inspector's audit said that Western Power was breaching the act because of the reasons shown on the screen?

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2009–10 financial year, did you go to Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if these breaches affected Western Power's accounting or auditing treatment?

Mr Murphy: We certainly would have considered the impact of that on our financial audit and a fair presentation of their financial statements.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, we would ask for tabling of papers.

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: We are just saving time. We have a long way to go. We expect that you will answer no but we will ask you on every occasion.

In the 2009–10 financial year, did you go to Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if these breaches affected Western Power's internal audit or internal control systems?

Mr Murphy: Yes, we would have.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you prepared to table the working papers, minutes, et cetera?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2009-10 financial year did you go to Western Power or EnergySafety to find out if these breaches meant that Western Power was not complying with its statutory obligations?

Mr Murphy: We would have.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you prepared to table legal opinions, minutes, working papers?

Mr Murphy: No. In each of those cases, it is worth pointing out that we arrived at the conclusion that they would not have a material impact on the financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: It is fair for you to say that. As I say, our job is to try to find out what you actually did and we report back to the Council. That is what we are trying to do.

We move on to the ERA's 2009 Western power AA2 decision. You have been handed a copy, exhibit A. This is an extract of ERA's 2009 AA2 final funding decision of Western Power. Did you know that the ERA's December 2009 final AA2 funding decision on Western Power made damning comments on paragraphs 471 and 472, including information from a range of sources indicating substantial deficiencies in Western Power's management and governance process as they relate to the undertaking and the costs of operating and capital activities? Did you also know that the ERA's concerns were so serious that the ERA did not approve funding to Western Power of \$261 million in the AA2 period? Are you aware of that?

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2009–10 financial year, did you go to Western Power or the ERA to find out if any of these problems affected Western Power's accounting or auditing treatment?

Mr Murphy: We would have taken that into consideration to determine whether it would have a material impact on the financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table documents like working papers, minutes et cetera?

Mr Murphy: No, but I can tell you that we did take those factors into consideration.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2009–10 financial year did you go to either Western Power or the ERA to find out if these problems affected Western Power's internal audit or internal control systems?

Mr Murphy: We would have had those discussions.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table documents?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2009–10 financial year did you go to either Western Power or the ERA to find out if these problems meant that Western Power was not complying with its statutory obligations?

Mr Murphy: We would have and we certainly would have considered any statutory obligations that have an impact on the financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you prepared to table any legal opinion, working papers?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2009–10 financial year did you think about doing a performance audit of Western Power?

Mr Murphy: Yes, we did.

The CHAIRMAN: Can you demonstrate that you did that?

Mr Murphy: I have put it in writing to the committee. I have advised the committee about the processes leading up to a letter to Western Power saying that we were about to conduct a performance audit. Yes, I did.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you prepared to table working papers of corporate minutes and the like?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2009–10 financial year, did you find out if EnergySafety's inspector's audit or the ERA's reasons for holding back \$261 million in funding might affect that year's annual report?

Mr Murphy: It is important to make a distinction between the annual report and the audit. We do not audit the annual report so we do not consider whether those matters have an impact on the annual report. We certainly do consider whether those matters have an impact on our financial audit and the fair presentation of the financial statements.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table working papers and minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

Hon JIM CHOWN: In regard to the auditing process and the presentation of annual reports, I am sure there are compliance requirements. In your opinion, Mr Murphy, did Western Power meet the minimum or maximum requirements in regard to these matters?

Mr Murphy: We do not audit the annual report, so I have not conducted —

Hon JIM CHOWN: I said either in an annual report or in the audit processes that have been conducted to date—there should be minimum requirements that have to be upheld.

Mr Murphy: Look, there are minimum requirements and I would argue that public sector agencies should not seek to meet the minimum requirement. They should seek the highest possible standards of governance that they possibly can.

Hon JIM CHOWN: So where did Western Power fall in regard to these parameters that you have just —

Mr Murphy: I have not conducted an audit that would put me in a position to make an assessment or a judgement. I have put on record in my response to the committee that I concur with your expert's finding that the director's report was not as open as it should be. I do not have any disagreement with that at all. Standards of governance are a very different matter to a financial audit required under the Electricity Corporations Act and that goes to the very core of understanding this issue. Meeting the minimum requirements under the financial statements is one issue. Meeting all of the accountability requirements to the Parliament and to the public is a very different issue and I am not able to incorporate those governance issues into a financial audit. I am simply not allowed to. If I want to, if I like to—I cannot change that. I am bound by legislation, by the professional standards and by the auditing standards to follow the auditing standards when doing a financial audit. Those governance issues—they are very, very important to me—can only be examined by extending the financial audit into a performance audit. That is why I think it is absolutely critical to an understanding of these issues to draw a very clear distinction between financial audit and performance audit.

[11.20 am]

The CHAIRMAN: We need to move on so we can look at some of these issues. Let us look at the ERA's 2011 funding inquiry into Horizon Power. You are being handed exhibit B. This is an extract from the ERA's March 2011 funding inquiry into Horizon Power. Have you got the document?

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Did you know about the ERA's March 2011 findings about the condition of Horizon Power's Esperance network, what they call the ENRUP proposal and how to fix it?

Mr Murphy: Yes, we would have been.

The CHAIRMAN: Just keep hold of that document because you will need it for the next one. You are being handed a copy of exhibit L. This is an extract from Western Power's internal 2009 distribution of asset management plan. Did you know that as far back as 2009 Western Power's distribution asset management plan showed that Western Power's distribution network was in the same conditions as Horizon's Esperance network?

Mr Murphy: I cannot be certain of that.

The CHAIRMAN: We will continue on. In the 2010–11 financial year did you go to Western Power or the ERA to find out if this might affect Western Power's accounting auditing?

Mr Murphy: We would have had discussions with the key clients —

The CHAIRMAN: We will go through the whole process of the auditor. So, are you prepared to table the working papers and minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2010–11 financial year did you go to Western Power or the ERA to find out what this might tell you about Western Power's internal audit or internal control systems?

Mr Murphy: We would have had discussions with the client and the key regulators about issues that impact the financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you prepared to table audit papers and executive minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2010–11 financial year did you go to Western Power or the ERA to find out if Western Power was complying with statutory obligations?

Mr Murphy: We would have had discussions. Statutory obligations are only considered to the extent they have a material impact on the financial audit—the true and fair presentation of the financial statements in our financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. So, the same question again: are you prepared to table legal opinions, working papers or minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Members, that is the end of another section, so we will move on.

Let us look at Western Power's annual report of 2010–11. You are being handed exhibits B1 and B2. These are extracts of Western Power's board pack documents on 7 June and 30 June 2011 board meetings. Did you know that before the episode of the 2010–11 financial year Western Power's management had calculated the risk caused by the condition of its wood pole network? I see you looking at those. Do you need a moment?

Mr Murphy: No. We do not attend the board meetings, so we would not have —

The CHAIRMAN: So you would not have known about that?

Mr Murphy: We would not have known about that. The quantification of the risk and the amount is an issue that I have addressed in my written response.

The CHAIRMAN: So, again, did you know that before the end of the 2010–11 financial year, Western Power's management had costed the capex challenge caused by the state of its wood pole network? Would you have been aware of that?

Mr Murphy: I cannot answer that with certainty. I believe we certainly are aware in general terms of the issue around the network. I cannot answer in specific detail.

The CHAIRMAN: We will hand you a copy of exhibit V3. This is an extract of Western Power's board pack documents of 7 April 2011 board meeting. If you just have a quick look at that.

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Did you know that before the end of the 2009–10 financial year Western Power management advised the board of Western Power, Treasury and the EERC about these things before the 2010–11 annual report annual audit options were signed off for that financial year? Were you aware of the situation?

Mr Murphy: We do not attend the board meetings, so we would not have, in terms of the specific issue. We do not attend the board meetings, so I cannot confirm that we had specific knowledge. We certainly had general knowledge about the issue.

The CHAIRMAN: So were you at the board meeting of 2010–11 when the annual report and annual financial statement were signed off?

Mr Murphy: No, it would be very unusual for an Auditor General to attend a board meeting.

Hon ED DERMER: Have you ever attended a board meeting?

Mr Murphy: I have attended some board meetings, yes, but it is very rare.

Hon ED DERMER: What would be the special circumstances?

Mr Murphy: Some corporatised entities do like to sign the financial statements in the presence of the auditor at the completion of the audit process. So, there is one that I am familiar with that does that. Certainly Western Power does not.

Hon ED DERMER: So you would not attend for any other purpose?

Mr Murphy: I attend audit and risk committee meetings when I can to discuss audit matters with clients on a fairly regular basis.

Hon ED DERMER: We are talking about board meetings.

Mr Murphy: Certainly entrance and exit interviews are conducted with key clients, but they are not usually board meetings. They are a separate meeting that can include a chair of the board or a chair of the audit committee but they are not board meetings, no.

The CHAIRMAN: Auditor, were you present when the annual report and annual financial statements were signed off?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2010–11 financial year, did you go to Western Power to find out whether the internal processes might affect Western Power's accounting for auditing treatments?

Mr Murphy: We would have considered the impact of those issues on our financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table any working papers or minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2010–11 financial year did you go to Western Power to find out if these internal developments affected Western Power's internal audit or internal control systems?

Mr Murphy: We would have.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table working papers, minutes and the like?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the 2010–11 financial year did you go to Western Power or the ERA or EnergySafety to find out if these internal developments meant that Western Power was not complying with its statutory obligations?

Mr Murphy: We would have considered the extent to which statutory obligations had an impact on the financial audit, absolutely. It is a very important requirement.

The CHAIRMAN: Same question: are you prepared to table legal opinions, audit papers or executive minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In the financial year 2010–11, did you think about doing a performance audit of Western Power?

Mr Murphy: Yes, I have outlined that.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table working papers or minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: What action did you take after we asked you to think about doing a performance audit of Western Power on 28 September 2011?

Mr Murphy: We undertook some quite considerable planning for an audit looking at the timing, at the scope, at the lines of inquiry. It is important for our audit processes that we do as much planning as we can before we engage with the client. We need to look at all the external material that is available. We also look at what is happening in other jurisdictions. So, we conduct quite extensive work before engaging with the client, which is our normal practice.

The CHAIRMAN: Who is the client?

Mr Murphy: If you will forgive me, I am using —

The CHAIRMAN: I understand that, but the —

Mr Murphy: The Parliament is my key client and I do know that some Auditors General refer to their agencies as auditees to make it absolutely clear and if that clarity is helpful, I will be more than helpful to use the term auditee.

The CHAIRMAN: I think it is helpful in the direction of perception.

Mr Murphy: Absolutely.

The CHAIRMAN: That is really the only reason we ask you that question. You have been handed extract E. This is an extract from Western Power's 2010–11 annual report. What we ask you to look at is on the last page of that document. In the 2010–11 financial year, did you check whether the ERA's decision about Horizon's then proposal or the level of Western Power's public disclosures about the state of the network were serious enough to affect that year's annual report? That goes back to exhibit B, if you have still got that in front of you.

Mr Murphy: It is not a matter that would be considered in our financial audit of Western Power. The extent of disclosures outside of the financial statements is not a matter that would be considered in a financial audit, so the answer to that is no. It is a matter that could and would be considered in a performance audit and we have discussed that.

The CHAIRMAN: Clearly the point for us is that Horizon established a position with their lines and Western Power had not established a position with their lines. So, again, can you give the committee any evidence that you followed that up? Are you prepared to table working papers and corporate minutes?

[11.30 am]

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: You are being handed a copy of exhibit V4. This is an extract from Western Power's board pack documents for the 28 January 2011 board meeting. Western Power's problems have big implications for the state's finances given that Western Power on its own contributes between 40 and 50 per cent of the total state debt, which is the document that you have in front of you. In 2010–11 financial did you check whether the size of Western Power's capex problems were big enough to affect that year's whole-of-government financial statements or global state budget?

Mr Murphy: We certainly would have considered the impact of Western Power on the annual report of state finances. We conducted an audit of Western Power and found that their presentation was true and fair, and therefore it is reasonable for that information to be consolidated into the annual report on state finances. We do not audit the state budget.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table audit working papers and corporate minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you think that Western Power's 2010–11 annual report tabled on 22 September 2011 gave an accurate picture to the Parliament about the capex challenges and the risks to public safety created by Western Power's distribution network?

Mr Murphy: I have not audited the annual report, but I do know that in the committee's report has advice from an expert that suggests that the disclosures were not to the standard that would have been expected and I certainly agree with the advice of the expert, but we have not conducted an audit into the annual report or the disclosures.

The CHAIRMAN: Western Power has had a history of breaches and asset management problems since 2006. Why have you approached your statutory obligations regarding Western Power so differently from the way that EnergySafety and the ERA has approached their statutory functions?

Mr Murphy: My statutory obligations under the Electricity Corporations Act have been fully met. I have met my statutory obligations.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay, members, this is also the end of another session.

Hon ED DERMER: I have listened carefully to the questions that you have asked and that Mr Murphy has answered. We have the Office of Energy and others indicating serious problems with Western Power. As I understand your answer, you have said that within the scope of the financial statement audits that you perform, you are not obligated to consider the evidence of those problems.

Mr Murphy: That is not correct. We are obligated to consider those issues. We have an obligation under the auditing standards to consider the impact of all of those issues on the true and fair presentation of the financial statements. In each of those cases, the point that I have tried to make, those issues do not impact on the true and fair presentation of historical financial reports, which is precisely what we are auditing. We are auditing historical financial statements and we are required to give an opinion in accordance with the auditing standards. That work requires us to consider all of the issues that impact the entity and whether they are going to have an impact, and our judgement has been that those issues—very, very serious as they are—have serious implications for the state, they have serious implications for the budget, they have serious implications for the community, but they do not have serious implications for the true and fair presentation of the financial statements of Western Power.

I do not always agree that the auditing that we do in the public sector answers all the questions that the community and the Parliament might like. In fact, for my challenges to some of the standards, I am now a member of the auditing standards board for Australia because I believe there is a need for more consideration of broader public interest issues in the public sector and audits of the public sector. But at this stage I am constrained in terms of what I can do in a financial audit—severely constrained by the legislation and the auditing standards and my professional obligations. Now, I have met those fully. I have met those fully. They have not met other expectations that people have, and I do understand those expectations. I do understand why people would like to know more things other than simply the true and fair presentation but my obligations under the act are very, very clear and I have gone to enormous lengths to make sure that we do meet those obligations. We have conducted extensive reviews and checks on the work that we have done in that area following the committee's report to verify for ourselves that we have met all of our standards and all of our obligations and we have not uncovered any audit failure.

Hon ED DERMER: Mr Murphy, I am doing my very best to understand your very long sentence and if I understand it correctly, your obligation to conduct an audit of Western Power's financial records did not oblige you to comment on issues of public safety concern that were apparent to you personally and to us at the time.

Mr Murphy: Not only did it not oblige me to; it did not permit me to. There are matters that I am simply not able to incorporate into a financial audit.

Hon JIM CHOWN: What about a performance audit?

Mr Murphy: Performance audit—absolutely. That is exactly the right forum for these issues to be addressed. I made that point in my meeting with this committee in September and I continue to make the point that I really do believe that we need to make a very clear distinction between my obligations in conducting a financial audit and a performance audit, and indeed all of my concerns with the matters that appear in the committee's report relate to criticisms of the financial audit.

Hon ED DERMER: So if the constraints on the financial audit prevented you in your capacity as the Auditor General from alerting the Parliament to concerns about the public safety and how assets of Western Power compromise public safety, I would have hoped that that would have led you as the Auditor General to use the other instrument that you had, which was to conduct a performance

audit. I recollect at our hearing in the context of the investigation into the distribution assets of Western Power that went to the report that brought us here today, saying—I certainly recollect the Chairman saying very clearly—that the committee believed that you should have conducted a performance audit.

Mr Murphy: That is correct.

Hon ED DERMER: And you chose not to?

Mr Murphy: No, quite the reverse.

Hon ED DERMER: So you did have a performance audit but we have not found out about it?

Mr Murphy: We commenced the process of conducting a performance audit early in 2011. It is a matter of public record. We wrote to Western Power —

Hon ED DERMER: But you did not conduct it through to its completion. That is the point I am making.

Mr Murphy: We discovered that the committee was doing its report—something we should have known before we embarked on that audit; it was an error on our behalf. We felt it would be problematic to be doing an audit that paralleled the work of this committee.

Hon ED DERMER: The members of the committee who were part of that exchange, particularly Mr Chairman, made it very clear that the committee felt that if there was a need for the Auditor General's office to conduct a performance audit, which obviously you had, because you had commenced one, that that should be continued and not be terminated for reason of the fact that we were conducting our inquiry. Now, there is an expectation, Auditor General, on your office to investigate these matters when the need is there. The essence of the report that we tabled in the Parliament on Western Power was to say that we had expected you to find, to investigate—to investigate the matters once you were aware that there was likely to be the need to investigate them. If that is a point of difference between us, it is very simple. We believe that you should have conducted an inquiry to investigate those matters of public concern whether by way of a performance audit or any other instrument that you had before you.

Mr Murphy: I do not believe that is a point of difference. I am required to exercise my judgement about when to conduct a performance audit. It is very open to this committee—indeed any member of Parliament—to take a different view and to take me to task over those matters. That is not a point of difference between me, my office and the committee. I respect absolutely the right of the committee to have a different view about whether I should or should not have done a performance audit.

Hon ED DERMER: If that is not a point of difference, Mr Auditor General, what were the misunderstandings in our report that you were referring to in your letter of 25 January?

[11.40 am]

Mr Murphy: They relate to the expectation that a financial audit would audit matters such as the condition of the wooden poles, that it would audit the disclosures that were made in the annual report or the director's report, that it would look at the condition of the poles, that it would look at all statutory noncompliance—those issues. Essentially, the core of my concerns about the committee's report relate to inaccuracies about the role of financial audit.

Hon ED DERMER: Our expectation was that the Auditor General would investigate a serious matter of risk to public safety. Whether you were to conduct that as a financial audit or as a performance audit would not be of concern to the committee. What would be of concern to the committee is whether you conducted the investigation at all. That was the point we were making in our report, and the idea that that can somehow be a misunderstanding—I fail to see how that could possibly be a misunderstanding.

Mr Murphy: Well, I am happy to clarify that I do not believe there is any misunderstanding in that regard. The concerns of my letter were about inaccuracies in relation to financial auditing.

Hon ED DERMER: So the misunderstanding part should not be in your letter, is that what you are suggesting?

Mr Murphy: No, it absolutely—well, there are inaccuracies. Whether they are a result of misunderstandings or some other form, I am unable to say. My expectation —

Hon ED DERMER: You talked about the inaccuracies and the misunderstandings —

Mr Murphy: There are inaccuracies —

Hon ED DERMER: You have a duty to explain what you were talking about.

Mr Murphy: I am very happy to. There are inaccuracies in the report. My view is that they were likely to arise from misunderstandings. They relate to financial audit. They do not relate to —

The CHAIRMAN: I am conscious of the time.

Hon ED DERMER: You failed to point them out when you were invited to do so, Mr Auditor General.

Mr Murphy: I would be very pleased to do so.

Hon ED DERMER: At any time you are very welcome to put forward anything you might wish to suggest. The committee would be happy to receive it. We are still waiting to see some indication of any inaccuracies or misunderstandings that you referred to on 25 January.

Mr Murphy: So my letter of March did not clarify?

Hon ED DERMER: It failed to indicate to me any inaccuracy or misunderstanding.

The CHAIRMAN: If you will take that on board and consider that; and, if you wish to, you can respond in another letter.

Hon ED DERMER: At any time.

Mr Murphy: Chair, I have experienced some frustration in communicating with this committee in the requirement to communicate only formally. It was been my experience in the past to have access and to be able to talk to research officers or to talk to individual members of the committee. The committee's approach has meant that that is not possible. I think that has hampered communication, and I would ask the committee whether it is prepared to consider the option of allowing detailed discussions. I mean, the report is quite comprehensive. There are a number of areas in that report, and I would be very pleased to sit down with any members of staff or the committee to go through, point by point, line by line, where there are inaccuracies in the report.

Hon ED DERMER: You have the opportunity to do that on the public record here today. You also have been invited a number of times this morning to put forward—again, I would suggest on the public record would be appropriate—any suggestion you may have, which bears up to examination, to suggest any inaccuracy or misunderstanding in our report.

Mr Murphy: I would be pleased to do so.

Hon ED DERMER: Good; go ahead.

Mr Murphy: Section 6.23 of the report says “acceptance without question or comment on the part of the Auditor General of the accounting treatments adopted by Western Power strongly suggests that —

The CHAIRMAN: Auditor, if we keep going with our questions, we will actually get to that point. You did express some interest earlier in the day to try to get through today, and we have an interest in trying to get through today as well. We do get to that point a little later in the questioning.

Hon ED DERMER: It might be appropriate, Mr Chairman, for the auditor to take the opportunity to give us a letter pointing out any matters that he is unable to cover in the course of the hearing.

The CHAIRMAN: We all have to deliberate in not too many minutes' time.

Hon ED DERMER: The Auditor General is obviously welcome to indicate —

The CHAIRMAN: The Auditor General is welcome to write to this committee any time he likes. We will give consideration to the other matters that he wants us to consider when we get down to the process of deliberation. Right now we would like to get through the questions.

Mr Murphy: I am sorry that my letter of March has not made clear —

The CHAIRMAN: We do need to have it clear. But can I move through the questions, because otherwise we are going to run into a problem. Your letters—this is what we are talking about—are dated 25 January and 21 March 2012. Firstly, you wrote to us about financial audit. You said Western Power's asset management system is relevant to its financial statements.

Mr Murphy: All aspects of Western Power's operations are relevant to their financial statements to some extent. The question that the auditor needs to consider is whether they will have a material impact on the fair presentation of the financial statements and whether there is likely to be a material misstatement as a result of the impact of that issue.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. Did your financial audits for Western Power between 2006 and 2011 assume that Western Power's distribution asset management systems were fit for purpose?

Mr Murphy: I think "assume" is not a good word to use with an auditor, because we are required not to assume—in fact, quite the reverse; we are required to be sceptical about information that is given to us. Under the standards, we are required to approach our work with scepticism. The area that you asked me about —

The CHAIRMAN: It was about the status of their assets.

Mr Murphy: On the status of their assets, the condition of the assets

The CHAIRMAN: What we want to know —

Mr Murphy: We did consider the fair presentation; that is, whether the value of those assets is fairly presented in accordance with the accounting standards, and we check that —

The CHAIRMAN: And the systems?

Mr Murphy: No. The systems are not part of the financial audit. We are not giving an opinion on the systems. However, we must look at the systems to see if the information derived from those systems can be relied upon in terms of delivering information that complies with the accounting standards.

The CHAIRMAN: So how does—whatever you call it; I would use the word "assumption"—your determination compare to EnergySafety's and the ERA's repeated findings about Western Power's distribution asset management system? They all keep saying their systems were not up to standard. So how does that relate to what you are now telling us?

Mr Murphy: I think it is an important matter that those regulators were making those findings, which are absolutely important findings, and putting them on the public record so that the public and the Parliament could be aware of those deficiencies. They are not matters that would be addressed and identified in a financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: So are you indicating that you looked into those matters?

Mr Murphy: Absolutely. Those matters are taken into consideration in the audit, but only to the extent that they have an impact on the financial area.

The CHAIRMAN: So the same process: are you prepared to table your working papers and corporate minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: You are now being handed a copy of exhibit C. This is an extract of Western Power's media statement dated 15 September 2011. I am sure you are very aware of this statement.

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: So you remember that statement?

Mr Murphy: I do indeed.

The CHAIRMAN: Western Power's public statements about the condition of its wood pole network in its annual reports 2006 to 2011 do not match up very well with its media statement of 15 September 2011 that its "network was reaching the end of its useful and safe life". How do you reconcile these two statements?

Mr Murphy: I do not reconcile those statements. They are certainly not matters that are addressed as part of our financial audit.

The CHAIRMAN: If Western Power's asset management systems were not fit for purpose between 2006 and 2011, would that make you qualify any of your opinions on Western Power's annual financial statements?

Mr Murphy: I do not believe there is any basis for a qualification of the financial audit opinion.

The CHAIRMAN: In reaching your opinions about Western Power's financial statements in the financial years 2006–07 to 2010–11, did you investigate Western Power's systems of internal control?

Mr Murphy: We certainly do look at those systems to ascertain what impact issues around those systems would have on the fair presentation of the financial statements.

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table your working papers and minutes?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: In reaching your opinion about Western Power's financial statements in any of the years 2006–07 to 2010–11, did you address whether or not Western Power had complied with its statutory obligations?

Mr Murphy: We do, but the financial audit does not examine all instances of statutory compliance. It is required to consider those issues that are likely to have a material impact on the fair presentation of the financial statements.

[11.50 am]

The CHAIRMAN: Again, are you prepared to table your opinions and working papers?

Mr Murphy: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us move to paragraph 6.23 of our fourteenth report, which is now up on the screen. Your 21 March 2012 letter says that a chunk of paragraph 6.23 in report 14—underlined on the screen—shows the committee lacks understanding of accounting and auditing standards. Could you please tell us how paragraph 6.23, read as a whole, and in its full context, shows a lack of understanding of accounting and auditing standards? This is the question that we are all getting to.

Mr Murphy: Yes, it is. If I could put the statement into context, paragraph 6.22—the paragraph before that—quotes me and suggests that I was asked the issue about how the accounting treatment for assets differs from economic and safety requirements, and I was at pains in my appearance before the committee to explain that accounting considerations were very, very different to safety requirements and condition-based maintenance. What I believe has been done in this paragraph is to

then take the words that I used in describing condition-based maintenance—which is not part of our audit—and then suggest that we had assessed as safe and in good working condition the poles, which is completely not correct. It is completely incorrect. “Acceptance without question or comment”, I mean, the role of an auditor general is to do precisely that. It is to question and comment. We would not accept anything from Western Power without question and comment. We are required under the auditing standards to be sceptical and to question and comment all the time. But the accounting treatment is precisely what we do check. Issues that are covered later in the paragraph, such as safe and in good working condition, and replacement of the poles, is not a relevant consideration in the financial audit. It is not a matter that we consider. So I am strongly of the view that the accounting treatments adopted by Western Power are appropriate. That is not to say that all of their actions have been appropriate. Clearly, I think the committee, EnergySafety and ERA have all demonstrated that there are a wide range of deficiencies in Western Power. The point that I am trying to make is that deficiencies in their accounting treatments and their financial statements are quite separate from those issues.

The CHAIRMAN: We will consider those matters, but given the time I will try to move on.

Hon ED DERMER: Mr Chairman, I have to raise one matter. The wooden power poles and the other assets used for the distribution purpose are a large asset, and they would be expensive to replace if replacement was found to be necessary. Is that right?

Mr Murphy: Absolutely.

Hon ED DERMER: Okay. So if I was running Western Power and I was aware that my very expensive asset was reaching near the end of its safe and useful life, I would feel a duty to make an adequate financial provision for the replacement of that asset.

Mr Murphy: That would not be permitted under the accounting standards. It used to be. It is not permitted anymore.

Hon ED DERMER: What—the agencies are not permitted to make provision —

Mr Murphy: A provision for deferred maintenance is no longer allowed. It was a feature of our accounting in years gone by. Since the adoption of international financial reporting standards, that is prohibited, so that if Western Power had sought to put a provision for replacement of its poles into its financial reports, I would be required to make adverse comment about that. If I can touch on the accounting treatments, the two issues in accounting that impact on the wooden poles issue—one is whether the poles have been overvalued. Most of these aged poles have had their value written down to zero, so there is very little question about them being overvalued. In fact, if anything, they are in there at zero. The other point is whether there should be some sort of obligation or commitment recorded into the financial statements, and having a significantly deteriorating asset base simply does not meet the test of a present obligation. There is no contract in place, so it does not meet the test of a constructive obligation that would either allow them to put that matter into their financial statements or require me to make an adverse finding in relation to their financial statements. It is simply a matter of the accounting standards and the auditing standards, and that is really at the heart of what I am trying to get across to the committee.

The CHAIRMAN: We will talk about those matters some more. Twelve o'clock is getting very close. I am not quite sure where I am going to draw these matters to a close. But can we move on? Let us look at paragraph 8 of the executive summary of our report 14, which is now on the screen. Your 21 March 2012 letter says that a chunk of paragraph 8 from the executive summary in report 14—underlined on the screen—shows that the committee lacks an understanding of the accounting and auditing standards. Can you please tell us how paragraph 8 of the executive summary, read as a whole and in its full context, shows a lack of understanding of the accounting and auditing standards?

Mr Murphy: For the purposes of brevity, Chair, I will simply go to the issue of qualifications. We have spent months going through both our audits and the presentation of Western Power's financial statements. I cannot find any basis that would allow me to qualify their accounts in a financial sense.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us move on. Paragraph 9.10: again your letter says that a chunk of paragraph 9.10 in report 14—underlined on the screen—shows that the committee lacks an understanding of the accounting and auditing standards. Do you wish to comment on that?

Mr Murphy: The points I have already made—the qualification—I do not believe there is any basis for a qualification, and the annual report is not something that we audit. We do not audit annual reports for any of our auditees, other than through a performance audit, of course.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you think that the committee is limited to the accounting and auditing standards in judging the performance of the Auditor General?

Mr Murphy: Absolutely not.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. So what other standards should we look at?

Mr Murphy: It is critical to me that our financial audits are judged on the basis of the auditing standards. I think that is the standard that should be measured. Any other standard that the committee wants to apply to judging the performance of my office should be high ones.

The CHAIRMAN: And we will come to a bit of that in the future, whenever we get there, so we will talk about those matters when we do. Finally on the question of financial audits, let us look at paragraph 9.9 of report 14, which is on the screen. Your 21 March letter says that a chunk of paragraph 9.9 of report 14, which is underlined on the screen, shows that the committee thinks that you audit agencies' annual reports. Can you please tell us how paragraph 9.9, read as a whole and in its full context, shows that the committee thinks you audit annual reports?

Mr Murphy: It is simply holding me to account for work that I have not done. It is troubled by the fact that I have signed off on the annual report. I simply have not done that. I have not audited the annual report.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. Do you have anything that you would like to add to your letter of 21 March 2012 that might help the committee understand an inaccuracy or misunderstanding relating to financial audit?

Mr Murphy: I certainly would be prepared to go through the report in detail, either with the staff or individual members of the committee, in order to help gain an explanation. I also identified in my letter, though, that my purpose was to put on the record the fact that there were inaccuracies in the report. Having now done that, my sole objective in this matter is to assist the committee.

The CHAIRMAN: We will give consideration to that. It is not the practice of the committee, which you have already told us and which is not the case—it is unlikely that we will allow you to deal directly with the staff. You will need to deal with the committee. So we will give that consideration.

Hon ED DERMER: Just to repeat, Mr Chairman, that the Auditor General is welcome to put any further submissions that he believes may suggest, in his view, an inaccuracy or a misunderstanding.

Mr Murphy: I would only suggest that I would be aided by some dialogue to identify what particular areas are of concern to individual members. That would certainly aid me in what sort of information I could provide that would assist the committee.

[12.00 noon]

The CHAIRMAN: Auditor General, if we move on pretty expeditiously, we should be able to get to the end of the process. I am keen to press on. You also wrote to us about performance audits. Can you tell us what paragraphs of report 14 concerning performance audits show that the committee has made inaccuracies or misunderstood performance audits?

Mr Murphy: I thought I had previously tried to make the point that my concern about misunderstandings and inaccuracies relates to financial audits.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay.

Mr Murphy: My aim in providing information about performance audits is simply in order to assist the committee to understand what we do and what we have done.

The CHAIRMAN: You did write to us and say that you need to be satisfied about the public interest in conducting a performance audit. Do you want to comment on that?

Mr Murphy: I think that is self-evident. I mean, it is a core consideration, but not the sole consideration, in conducting a performance audit.

The CHAIRMAN: Is it your own personal concept of public interest that you have got in mind or is there a broader definition of “public interest”?

Mr Murphy: The matters that come to bear in a decision to conduct a performance audit are potentially unlimited. Other than the requirement for independence under the legislation, there are no constraints on matters that can be considered in determining whether or not to conduct a performance audit.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us assume that the committee used your reasoning for not conducting an inquiry into Western Power. Would it have been reasonable for us to not inquire into Western Power over the past two years because EnergySafety and the ERA were already investigating?

Mr Murphy: Chair, my response, I hope, is very, very clear, and I would encourage the members to read my response to that question that I have written. I believe that the committee’s work complementing the regulators has been an excellent example. It has had good outcomes for the public and for the community, and it is an excellent example of regulators working together with parliamentary committees to get to the bottom of an issue. My office has a long record of working very, very well and very closely with parliamentary committees to achieve similar outcomes. When I identify matters in an audit, and the Public Accounts Committee does not think they have been addressed satisfactorily by the auditee, the Public Accounts Committee comes in and does complementary work, which helps to achieve change in that particular area. I think the work that the committee has done is an excellent example of complementary work between regulators and parliamentary committees.

The CHAIRMAN: Where would Western Power be now, and where would the Parliament and the people of Western Australia be today, if the committee had just said, “Other people are looking into this”?

Mr Murphy: I have already said that I do believe that the work the committee has done has added considerable value to the public interest and to the community.

The CHAIRMAN: We agree you have already said that, so let us move on. You will recall that the statutory independence of the Office of the Auditor General, in its current form, goes back to the WA Inc royal commission and the Commission on Government. This is the area that I said we would come to. The first reference shown on the screen is from the royal commission. It stresses how much Parliament depends on your office. So you can see that statement. Do you wish to have time to read it?

Mr Murphy: Look, I understand this matter fairly well. I do not believe I do need additional time.

The CHAIRMAN: Okay. The Commission on Government’s views about the Office of the Auditor General are now up on the screen, as you can see. You can see that even though they supported the concept of statutory independence, your office was always understood to be directly accountable to the Parliament.

Mr Murphy: Absolutely; and I understand that. I think I did discuss my desire to be more accountable to the Parliament earlier.

The CHAIRMAN: Since you wrote to us on 21 March this year, the government has tabled its response to report 14. The government's response talks about your office. We want to look into that response today. You are being handed a copy called exhibit 5. This you may not have seen, so you might want time to see it. This is an extract of the government's response to report 14 tabled on Tuesday, 12 June this year. Have you seen this document?

Mr Murphy: I have.

The CHAIRMAN: Please turn to the last page of the extract. A copy of the relevant bit is shown on the screen. The bit we wish to talk about is on the screen. When did you ask for copies of Western Power's board minutes and supporting documents and examine them before telling Western Power that this was your opinion?

Mr Murphy: Chair, I do not have any record of us providing that information to Western Power. I think it is an unfortunate choice of words in that it appears to address auditing and accounting standards, but it does not state that. I think it is an unfortunate choice of words.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes; we were a bit concerned that you might ascertain that as well.

Mr Murphy: I certainly do not agree with that statement. There is certainly no auditing or accounting standard governing the level of disclosure required in directors' reports.

The CHAIRMAN: We are concerned about that statement as well.

Mr Murphy: The standard of disclosure in directors' reports is a matter that is covered in a wide range of different forums—people like the Chartered Secretaries and the Australian Institute of Company Directors. There are a whole range of people who would have high standards for the level of disclosure required in directors' reports, but the accounting and auditing standards do not have standards relating to directors' reports.

The CHAIRMAN: So where do you think that statement has come from?

Mr Murphy: Probably from a misunderstanding in communication between my office and Western Power. If they asked us whether there was anything in their director's report that caused us concern as auditors, we would have pointed out to them what I have just said to you—that there is no standard required in the auditing or accounting standards.

The CHAIRMAN: So, to make it clear, is it your opinion that agencies of government only need to meet a defined minimum level of disclosure?

Mr Murphy: It is quite the reverse, Chair. I believe it is important that government agencies meet the highest possible standards of disclosure.

The CHAIRMAN: We may have to do some work on where that has actually come from.

Mr Murphy: The requirements for the disclosure are covered in the Electricity Corporations Act.

The CHAIRMAN: We are getting to the final stretch. Is it true that the Office of the Auditor General's periodic peer review audits are conducted by an Auditor General's office from another Australian jurisdiction?

Mr Murphy: We do conduct a range of different reviews and we do regularly have our work subject to peer review from auditors from other jurisdictions, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Would that be your expectation of what the future is?

Mr Murphy: The future is up to the Parliament. I certainly would not presume to tell the Parliament who should review me.

The CHAIRMAN: No, but still we understand that that committee has not been put together, but that would have been your expectation.

Mr Murphy: Not necessarily, no. I think it is very important that the Parliament decide who should conduct an external review.

The CHAIRMAN: So, the committee understands that the Office of the Auditor General conducts periodic peer review audits for Auditor General's offices in other Australian jurisdictions.

Mr Murphy: Yes, we do.

The CHAIRMAN: Given the small number of Auditors General, is there not a potential for this to be seen as confusing the auditor-auditee relationship?

Mr Murphy: I get considerable value out of those reviews. They do identify areas in which we can improve, and I am always interested in finding out areas in which we can do our work better. The reviews of Auditors General are not confined to the group as such. Statutory reviews have been conducted by private firms, former Auditors General and individuals with specific knowledge, so reviews of Auditors General are not, and nor should they be, confined to other Auditors General.

The CHAIRMAN: But when they do happen, how is a potential conflict of interest managed?

Mr Murphy: I do not know that there is a particular conflict of interest between auditors from one jurisdiction conducting a peer review on auditors from another.

The CHAIRMAN: We could have a long conversation about that.

Mr Murphy: We could.

The CHAIRMAN: But we will not. A special relationship of mutual trust and confidence is supposed to exist between the Parliament and the Auditor General. Do you think that your actions regarding Western Power since 2006 as an independent information provider to the Parliament has met the needs of Parliament in this special relationship?

Mr Murphy: I have certainly done everything within my power to meet that requirement. I would point out that since my time in the role of Auditor General, I have added to the communication with all of the committees of the Parliament a quarterly briefing on my work program so that they can be aware of what work I am and am not conducting.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us have a look at your statutory duties under your own act, and it is all on the screen. Section 28 of the Auditor General Act 2006 lays down general statutory duties that apply to you when you perform your statutory functions. Subsection (1) duties let you exercise some discretion, but subsection (2) duties are mandatory. Do you agree with that?

Mr Murphy: In a broad sense, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Subsection (1) talks about accounting and auditing standards and also about the internal controls and internal audit. There is some discretion given to you there. Subsection (2) talks about agencies complying with statutory obligations, and there is no discretion allowed there for you to exercise. Do you agree?

Mr Murphy: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: So why should this committee not make a formal finding that you may have failed to comply with your statutory duties in respect of Western Power since 2006?

Mr Murphy: The audits that I have conducted under the energy corporations act are limited in scope and would not address the issues that the Chair has referred to. I could address such issues in a performance audit, which is the point I have made before. It is open for the committee to form a different view from me about whether a performance audit should have been done or not.

The CHAIRMAN: That is the end of our questions, Auditor, believe it or not. It has been a difficult morning, but we appreciate your attitude in getting through it. We still have a difficulty in

this question about parliamentary privilege, which I suspect you will hear a lot more about. I think we just have to leave it at that. What we will do obviously, Auditor, is meet on our own and deliberate about what has happened this morning. But you look like you wish to make a final comment.

Mr Murphy: Chair, time is short, but I would be very keen to follow up on the very important matters that you have raised; and, if there is any opportunity to have some discussion that would hasten that, rather than awaiting correspondence from the committee, then I would certainly appreciate that.

The CHAIRMAN: That may not be our consideration; it actually may be a consideration of the Council. We will have to think about that, or we will probably get told whose role that is.

Hon ED DERMER: Told by the Council, to make that clear, Mr Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: The exhibits that you have got that you referred to, do you need to leave those in our possession?

Mr Murphy: If you would like a copy of the auditing standards —

The CHAIRMAN: We need to be able to go back over what we have talked about today, so we need a copy of the matters that you have referred to.

Mr Murphy: These exhibits? I am more than happy for them to remain here.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you. Thank you for your time. The hearing is closed.

Hearing concluded at 12.13pm
